



Supporting information for appraisal and revalidation

Based on the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges framework document

August 2018

Contents

03 1.0	Purpose of	f Document
--------	------------	------------

2.0 Overarching Principles of the GMC's Guidance

3.0 Supporting Information

- -3.1 Continuing Professional Development (CPD)
- 3.2 Quality Improvement Activity
- 3.3 Significant Events
- 3.4 Feedback from patients or those to whom you provide medical services
- 3.5 Colleague Feedback
- 3.6 Review of compliments and complaints

4.0 Additional Information Required for Appraisal

- -4.1 Information about your practice
- -4.2 Probity Statement
- -4.3 Health Statement

21 5.0 References

1.0 Purpose of this document

The GMC has updated its <u>Guidance on supporting information for appraisal and revalidation</u> (April 2018). This framework document provides detail on updated Academy and RCPCH recommendations to enable doctors to fulfil the GMC requirements while protecting their time for patient care. The original Academy framework document (July 2018) has been adapted by the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (RCPCH).

There is no significant change to the six types of supporting information required by the GMC for a positive revalidation recommendation:

- Continuing professional development (CPD)
- Quality improvement activities (QIA)
- Significant events (SE)
- Feedback from patients or those to whom you provide medical services
- Feedback from colleagues
- Review of compliments and complaints

The GMC requirements are necessarily broad enough to fit every licensed doctor, no matter what area, sector or scope of practice.

Each section is structured to highlight the GMC's principles and requirements, followed by comments and updated Academy and RCPCH recommendations. Although the types of supporting information are the same for all doctors, the RCPCH has included supplementary specialty-specific advice at the end of the sections, where appropriate.

We recommend that this document is read alongside/in conjunction with the GMC's guidance.

2.0 Overarching principles of the GMC's guidance

The GMC's principles and requirement(s) are set out first, followed by the updated Academy recommendations.

1. Annual appraisal

Annual whole practice appraisal is a key part of revalidation. It should be supportive and developmental and is not a pass or fail exercise. You must participate in a whole practice appraisal every year unless there are clear and reasonable mitigating circumstances that prevent you from doing so. For example, you might not have had an appraisal one year because you were on maternity leave or long-term sickness absence.

Providing there are clear and reasonable mitigating circumstances, we do not require you to 'catch up' on appraisals and you do not have to complete five appraisals to revalidate. You should discuss and agree this with your responsible officer before any period of prolonged absence, or as soon as you know how long you are going to be away from work.

The GMC has clarified that every doctor is required to engage with an annual medical appraisal that covers their whole scope of practice. However, there is no need to have five appraisals in a revalidation cycle if there are reasons why a doctor has an 'approved missed appraisal' or the revalidation cycle is not five years long. There is no need for 'catch up' appraisals in order to revalidate.

2. Whole scope of practice

You must declare all the places you have worked and the roles you have carried out as a doctor since your last appraisal. You must collect supporting information that covers the whole of this practice. It's important you identify your whole scope of practice, so you can make sure your supporting information covers all aspects of your work. Your supporting information must cover any work you do in:

a. clinical (including voluntary work) and non-clinical (including academic) roles b. the NHS, the independent sector and private work.

The GMC's description 'scope of practice' is clarified to ensure that you provide an appropriate level of detail for the responsible officer to be assured that all parts of your scope of practice have appropriate supporting information and reflection over the five-year cycle, and the contact details for the clinical governance review of any parts of the scope of practice outside your designated body have been shared.

The requirement to give details of all the places where you have worked has been made clearer and will mean that doctors need to pro-actively keep a log of everywhere they have worked in any role that requires a UK Licence to Practise. Capturing this data accurately is a GMC requirement.

3. 'Quality not quantity' and proportionality

It is important that your supporting information covers your whole scope of practice, is of sufficient quality to support your learning and development, and helps you reflect to identify areas for improvement and strengths in your practice. We do not set a minimum or maximum quantity of supporting information you must collect.

You should consider what evidence demonstrates your strengths as well as areas of your practice that may benefit from further development. You do not need to submit every available piece of evidence for each type of supporting information. You should choose clear examples within each supporting information category in line with the requirements in this guidance. You should also choose examples based on their ability to generate meaningful reflection and discussion during your appraisal meetings. You must be able to explain to your appraiser, if asked, why you have chosen the evidence.

You should be selective and provide high-quality examples of reflection on your most significant learning and indicate what further supporting information is available but not submitted. You should demonstrate in your portfolio:

- An appropriate level of detail in providing context about what you do in all aspects of your work: describing your scope of practice, and details of all the places that you have worked as a doctor since your last appraisal;
- Reflection on the probity and health statements and the domains of Good medical practice (GMC, 2013);
- Annual reflection on how you maintain and enhance the quality of your professional work through continuing professional development (CPD) learning activities. CPD can include a variety of activities including personal reading, e-learning and professional conversations as well as learning in teams and externally. Learning activities should normally be a mixture of consolidation (things you already know), targeted learning (for example, triggered by a case or a learning event, or an area of interest or need) and opportunistic exposure to new learning (to ensure you keep up-to-date with 'unknown unknowns'). You should demonstrate a balanced programme of CPD appropriate to your scope of practice.
- Reflection on how you evaluate and improve the quality of your professional work through regular review, including learning arising from quality improvement activities (QIA), and significant events (SE).
- Reflection on how you seek and act on feedback about the quality of your professional work through feedback from colleagues, patients or those for whom you provide medical services, as well as compliments and complaints. You are advised to think broadly about those people that you work with and to get feedback across your whole scope of practice, and to use a variety of feedback tools that will give you meaningful feedback in a timely way while being appropriate and accessible to your respondents.

4. Reflection

Appraisal is a supportive and developmental forum, giving you the opportunity to reflect on your professional practice over the past year. Reflecting on your supporting information and what it says about your practice will help you improve the quality of care you give your patients and the services you provide as a doctor. You will not meet our requirements by simply collecting the required information. Ongoing reflection on your practice is central to revalidation and should form part of the preparation for your annual appraisal. Your appraiser can facilitate further reflection, as needed, but it is your responsibility to demonstrate examples of your reflective practice.

The GMC requirements and AoMRC guidance both highlight the importance of reflection on supporting information, not just the capture of raw data in a portfolio. Reflective practice is central to the annual appraisal process because the quality of your medical practice is maintained and improved by thinking through what you do, what you have learned and what you may do differently as a result. There are many stages to reflection, from your first thoughts at the time, to your captured reflection prior to your appraisal, including your thoughts about your supporting information, summarised in your reflective notes in your portfolio. Finally, there is the facilitated reflection with the appraiser during the appraisal

discussion, when your individual reflection may be put into context and developed as part of your personal development plan. Remember: collect, reflect, discuss.

5. Focus on learning and improvement and development planning

At your appraisal you must discuss with your appraiser the changes you have made or plan to make, and any areas of good practice you intend to maintain or build on as a result of your reflections on your supporting information and appraisal discussion. You should focus on what you have learned and what changes you need or want to make.

Reflection supports your development and continuous learning and will help you to identify improvements you can make to your practice. You must consider the learning needs and opportunities identified through the appraisal process in discussion with your appraiser and agree how this feeds into your personal development plan and continuing professional development activities for the following year.

The annual appraisal process is structured around continuous professional development through reviewing the progress made with your previous year's personal development plan (PDP) and agreeing new PDP goals arising from the appraisal and discussion.

The Academy recommends that you focus on agreeing supportive and well-structured PDP goals that will contribute to your personal and professional development and help you maintain and improve the quality of your practice. Doctors are all clinical leaders and uniquely placed to engage with the continuous quality improvement agenda to improve systems and enhance the quality of patient care.

3. Supporting information

Each section is structured to highlight the GMC's principles and requirement[s], followed by comments and updated Academy recommendation(s) in black.

3.1 Continuing Professional Development (CPD)

Every doctor is required to demonstrate how they keep up-to-date across the whole scope of practice

The purpose of carrying out and reflecting on CPD

- To help you keep up-to-date and competent in all the work you do.
- To maintain and enhance the quality of your professional work across your whole practice.
- To encourage and support specific improvements in practice.

The GMC's requirements

- You must carry out CPD activities every year.
- Your CPD activities must cover the whole of your practice.
- Your learning needs and plans for your CPD should be reflected in your personal development plan for the coming year.
- CPD should focus on outcomes or outputs rather than on inputs. You should reflect on what you have learned from the activity and how this could help maintain or improve the quality of your practice.
- You must reflect on your CPD activities and discuss them at each annual whole practice appraisal.

The Academy's recommendations

The Academy recommends that over a five-year revalidation cycle there should be a balanced approach to your continuing professional development (CPD) across your whole scope of practice:

- Learning should come from a variety of external, internal and personal study activities. For example, you should ensure your CPD includes more activities than just reading journal articles. Learning activities should normally be a mixture of consolidation (things you already know), targeted learning (for example, triggered by a case or a learning event, or an area of interest or need) and opportunistic exposure to new learning (to ensure you keep up-to-date with 'unknown unknowns').
- You are required by the GMC to do enough appropriate CPD to remain up-to-date and fit to practise across the whole of your scope of work. There is no regulatory requirement to acquire a particular number of 'credits' each year. However, for doctors in some Colleges and Faculties, a credit- based approach may provide a helpful benchmark or guide to indicate a quantity of CPD that is considered sufficient to keep up-to-date across the whole of that curriculum.
- The amount of CPD undertaken should be sufficient to ensure that you remain upto-date across your whole scope of practice. This does not have to be exactly the same amount each year, but it would be unusual for you to participate excessively in CPD one year but to do none (or very little) whatsoever the next.

- If you have not been able to undertake a balanced programme of CPD, or you
 have done excessive, or insufficient, CPD to keep up to date across your whole
 scope of practice in a given year, you would be expected to reflect on the reasons
 at your annual appraisal and discuss them with your appraiser.
- The focus of your CPD should be on maintaining and enhancing the quality of your professional work. You should reflect on its quality and impact on your practice, rather than on the amount of time spent on the activity. You will need to collect evidence to record your CPD, normally using a structured portfolio. CPD schemes or programmes organised by Colleges or professional associations can be a convenient way of doing this.
- There is no need for you to scan, or provide, copies of certificates for appraisal and revalidation where learning has been demonstrated through an appropriate reflective note (although it may be best practice to keep certificates for mandatory training defined by an employing organisation, so that you could provide them on demand).
- It is best practice to ensure you include participation in CPD with colleagues inside and outside your normal place of employment over the five-year cycle. Teambased learning strengthens the team. Attendance at external events ensures that your practice is calibrated with others and avoids professional isolation.

The RCPCH's recommendations

- The RCPCH CPD scheme guidance is available from www.rcpch.ac.uk/cpd. The scheme guidance is underpinned by the GMC and Academy CPD recommendations where the focus of CPD is on the outcome of learning for your patients, your practice and you, rather than purely on the amount of time spent on an activity. The system retains elements of a credits-based scheme, as a recommendation rather than a requirement, but has greater emphasis on reflection on learning.
- The CPD Diary https://cpd.rcpch.ac.uk is a RCPCH tool which can assist you with planning, reflecting on and evidencing your CPD activities.

3.2 Quality improvement activity

Every doctor is required to demonstrate how they review the quality of their work across their whole scope of practice

The purpose of collecting and reflecting on quality improvement activity

- To allow you to review and evaluate the quality of your work.
- To identify what works well in your practice and where you can make changes.
- To reflect on whether changes you have made have improved your practice or what further action you need to take

The GMC's requirements

- You must discuss with your appraiser or responsible officer the extent and frequency of quality improvement activity that is appropriate for the work you do.
- You must be able to show you have participated in quality improvement activity
 that is relevant to all aspects of your practice at least once in your revalidation
 cycle. However, the extent and frequency will depend on the nature of the activity.
- You should participate in any national audit or outcome review that is being conducted in
 - your area of practice. You should also reflect on the outcomes of these audits or reviews, even if you have been unable to participate directly.
- You should evaluate and reflect on the results of the activity, including what action
 you have taken in response to the results and the impact over time of the changes
 you have made and discuss these outcomes at your appraisal.
- If you have been unable to evaluate the result of the changes you have made or
 plan to make to your practice, you must discuss this with your appraiser and
 include this in your personal development plan for the following appraisal period.

- The Academy recommends that you demonstrate the ability to review and learn from your medical practice every year by reflecting on representative quality improvement activities (QIA) appropriate to your scope of practice and circumstances, with a spread of QIAs across your whole scope of practice over a five-year cycle.
- No fixed number of QIAs is recommended, as some will be very brief interventions, and others will be very significant projects. The Academy recommends that you keep in mind the principle of providing documentation that is reasonable and proportionate and does not detract unduly from patient care, while ensuring that your QIA covers the whole of your scope of practice over the five-year cycle and demonstrates clearly how you review and improve the quality of your practice every year. If in doubt, use your professional judgement about what is appropriate and discuss your plans for the coming year with your appraiser
- You are advised to think about the quality not quantity of your QIA. If you have not been able to evaluate or reflect on the impact of any QIA during the period your appraisal covers, then plans to do so should form part of your agreed PDP for the coming year. You must participate in QIA relevant to your whole practice at least once in your revalidation cycle.

- Continuous quality improvement involves evaluating whether a change is an improvement. Changes made should be shared and strengthened where they are an improvement or reversed where they are not.
- QIA may take many forms, including, but not restricted to, taking action as a result of:
 - o cases such as reflective clinical case reviews:
 - data such as large scale national audit, formal audit, review of personal outcome data, small scale data searches, information collection and analysis ('search and do' activities), plan/do/study/act (PDSA) cycles;
 - events such as learning event analysis (LEA) and significant event (SE) review (see the definition of an SE in section 3.3);
 - feedback such as the outcomes of reflection on your formal patient and colleague feedback survey results, other solicited and unsolicited feedback, compliments and complaints.
- For some parts of your scope of practice, particularly relating to specific clinical skills, such as surgical or procedural skills, it is appropriate and necessary to maintain an ongoing log of personal outcome data and reflect on the outcomes at least once in the revalidation cycle.
- If you are in a role where there is organisational, regional or national outcome data provided, you are required to demonstrate how you reflect on your personal involvement and response to the information provided about your own performance for your appraisal.
- You do not need to have undertaken data collection personally, but your reflection should describe your personal involvement in the activity and what you have learned about your own performance in relation to current standards of good practice, including what changes you plan to make as a result, or how you will maintain high standards of performance.
- All significant events, in which you have been personally named or involved, that reach the GMC defined level of harm, as patient safety incidents, must be reported, reflected on and declared (see section 3.3). It is likely that in many cases the learning from them will also lead to quality improvement activities for you personally, or for the systems in which you work.

The RCPCH's recommendations

- As part of Quality Improvement in Child Health Strategic Framework, RCPCH facilitates high-quality national audits to help improve patient care and outcomes. These audits (see below) engage relevant health professionals to systematically evaluate their practice against national standards:
 - National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP)
 - National Paediatrics Diabetes Audit
 - National Epilepsy12 Audit
- The College also facilitates quality improvement and patient safety projects which
 use various approaches to improve patient care and outcomes in a specific area,
 e.q.:
 - Meds IQ
 - Safe system framework
 - CYP Diabetes Quality Programme
 - o S.A.F.E
- Evidence of participation in relevant audits and/or quality improvement projects should be included in your supporting information.

- You can also find examples of RCPCH-produced, affirmed or endorsed guidelines, against which you may audit your practice, at https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/clinical-guidelines-standards
- E-learning resources designed to support quality improvement is accessible via the following link https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/quality-improvement-how-makeservices-work-better-you-your-patients-elearning
- Additional clinical audit resources, documents and tools are available via the HQIP website. Alternatively, you may wish to contact the RCPCH Clinical Standards and Quality Improvement team.

3.3 Significant events

For the purposes of the GMC's guidance a significant event is any unintended or unexpected event, which could or did lead to harm of one or more patients. This includes incidents which did not cause harm but could have done, or where the event should have been prevented.

The purpose of collecting and reflecting on significant events

- To allow you to review and improve the quality of your professional work.
- To identify any patterns in the types of significant events recorded about your practice and consider what further learning and development actions you have implemented, or plan to implement to prevent such events happening again.

The GMC's requirements

- You must declare and reflect on every significant event you were involved in since your last appraisal.
- Your discussion at appraisal should focus on those significant events that led to a change in your practice or demonstrate your insight and learning. You must be able to explain to your appraiser, if asked, why you have chosen these events.
- Your reflection and discussion should focus on the insight and learning from the event, rather than the facts or the number you have recorded.

- You must be aware of the GMC definition of significant events as patient safety incidents.
- Like all doctors, you must declare and reflect on all significant events in which you
 have been personally named or involved, and your reflections and actions agreed
 as a result must be provided in this section of supporting information and
 discussed during your annual appraisal.
- Not all significant events need to be discussed in detail you should choose those that have led to important learning and changes that have an impact on your practice.
- All significant events should be reviewed to look at how actions and conditions interacted in contributing to the outcome. Where possible, any changes that can be made to protect patients should be considered and implemented and later reviewed to ensure that they are having the desired effect and no unintended consequences. Where appropriate, you should also reflect on this at your appraisal.
- Significant events should be discussed with colleagues to maximise and share learning according to GMC requirements.
- If you have not been personally named, or involved, in a significant event during the year, you should sign the statement to confirm there were none and include a reflective note about the systems that are in place to ensure that such events would be recognised and reported.
- It is best practice to demonstrate that you are aware of how significant events are captured in all the organisations within which you work, across the whole of your scope of practice. You should know how to report any significant events that you become aware of and how to ensure, as far as possible, if you have been named, or involved, in any.

• All relevant data included in the appraisal and revalidation portfolio should be anonymised to remove third party identifiable information. This may include the identification of rare conditions or specialist clinics. For this reason, although your reflective note on the lessons learned and any changes made as a result should always form part of your appraisal portfolio, specific original supporting information relating to significant events in which you have been named, or involved, may sometimes appropriately be submitted separately or reviewed in paper format, which your appraiser should then reference in the appraisal summary.

The RCPCH's recommendations

 Paediatricians should reflect on any significant events including those discussed as a team. Risk management reviews/serious case reviews also provide opportunities for reflection.

3.4 Feedback from patients or those to whom you provide medical services

The purpose of gathering and reflecting on this feedback

- To understand what your patients and others think about the care and services you provide.
- To help you identify areas of strength and development, and highlight changes you can make to improve the care or services you provide.
- To evaluate whether changes you have made to your practice in light of earlier feedback have had a positive impact.

The GMC's requirements

- At least once in each revalidation cycle you must collect, reflect on and discuss feedback from patients about their experience of you as their doctor.
- If you do not have patients you should collect feedback from others to whom you
 provide medical services. If you believe you can't collect such feedback, then you
 must agree with your responsible officer that you do not need to.
- Those asked to give you feedback must be chosen from across your whole scope of practice.
- You should use standard questionnaires that have been validated and are independently administered to maintain objectivity and anonymity. You must agree any alternative approaches with your responsible officer.
- You should not personally select those asked to give feedback about you, and you should make sure the method used for collecting feedback allows responses to be obtained from a representative sample.
- You must reflect on what the feedback means for your current and future practice and discuss it at your appraisal.

- You must reflect on feedback relating to the whole of your scope of practice over the five-year cycle.
- You may be asked by your appraiser to explain your choice of respondents and how they were selected to provide your formal feedback. Your appraiser will be able to support you in planning how to select an appropriate range of patients to give a full 360-degree view of your practice and avoid any conflicts of interest or appearance of bias.
- There is no requirement to use the GMC example questionnaire in obtaining feedback from your patients. A variety of other questionnaires meeting the GMC guidance have been developed which may be more suitable for your patient groups, professional scope of work, or circumstances.
- If you don't see patients, you should think broadly about who you could obtain feedback from, including those to whom you provide medical services, and seek feedback from them if possible. If this is not possible, you must agree that in advance of your revalidation recommendation due date with your responsible officer or suitable person.
- You may find it helpful to refer to the GMC's webpage containing <u>Patient Feedback</u> <u>Case-studies</u> covering a variety of scenarios.

The RCPCH's recommendations

 The RCPCH has developed a parent and carer feedback tool – PaedCCF – to support you. The PaedCCF tool has been developed and piloted extensively and is available as an outpatient and inpatient/intensive care version. Further information is available at www.rcpch.ac.uk/paedccf

3.5 Colleague feedback

The purpose of gathering and reflecting upon colleague feedback

- To understand how the range of people you work with view your practice.
- To help you identify areas of strength and development, and highlight changes you could make to improve the care or services you provide.
- To evaluate whether changes you have made to your practice in light of earlier feedback have had a positive impact.

The GMC's requirements

- At least once in your revalidation cycle you must collect, reflect on, and discuss at your annual appraisal, feedback from your colleagues.
- The colleagues who are asked to give feedback must be chosen from across your
 whole scope of practice and must be appropriate and include people from a range of
 different roles who may not be doctors.
- You must choose colleagues impartially and be able to explain to your appraiser, if asked, why you have chosen the colleagues who have given your feedback.
- Wherever possible you should use standard questionnaires that have been validated and are independently administered to maintain objectivity and confidentiality. You must agree any alternative approaches with your responsible officer.
- You must reflect on what the feedback means for your current and future practice.

- You must reflect on feedback relating to the whole of your scope of practice over the five-year cycle.
- You may be asked by your appraiser to explain your choice of respondents and how
 they were selected to provide your formal feedback. Your appraiser will be able to
 support you in planning how to select an appropriate range of colleagues to give a full
 360-degree view of your practice and avoid any conflicts of interest or appearance of
 bias.
- There is no requirement to use the GMC example questionnaire in obtaining feedback from your colleagues. The expectation is that feedback is collected using standardised questionnaires that comply with GMC guidance in this area. A variety of other questionnaires meeting the GMC guidance have been developed which may be more suitable for your professional scope of work, or circumstances.
- For some parts of your scope of practice, such as teaching and training, or appraising, it may not be possible to seek feedback in a way that meets all the GMC

guidance. You are expected to seek and act on feedback about all parts of your scope of practice over the five-year cycle, so you should choose an appropriate way to get meaningful feedback and discuss it with your appraiser. If there is an element of your practice for which you don't think you can collect colleague feedback you should discuss and agree this with your appraiser in advance.

3.6 Review of compliments and complaints

The purpose of gathering and reflecting on compliments and complaints

- To identify areas of good practice, strengths and what you do well.
- To identify areas for improvement, lessons learned and any changes to be made as a result.
- To demonstrate you value patients' and others' concerns and comments about your work by making changes as a result of the feedback you have received.

The GMC's requirements

- You must declare and reflect on all formal complaints made about you at your appraisal for revalidation. You should also reflect upon any complaints you receive outside of formal complaints procedures, where these provide useful learning.
- You do not have to discuss every complaint at your appraisal. You should select those that evidence your insight and learning into your practice, and those that have caused you to make a change to your practice. You must be able to explain to your appraiser, if asked, why you have chosen these complaints over others as part of your appraisal discussion.
- At your appraisal, you should discuss your insight and learning from the complaints and demonstrate how you have reflected on your practice and what changes you have made or intend to make.
- You should follow the same principles for collecting, discussing and reflecting on compliments.

The Academy's recommendations

Compliment

- You should reflect on any compliments you have received annually.
- You should include a reflective note, rather than original material, in your submitted appraisal portfolio, due to the difficulties with anonymising data, and keep any original cards or letters, if you wish, securely in a paper portfolio. Such original data, if shared with your appraiser, can be referenced in the appraisal summary to preserve the anonymity of the sender without defacing the source material.

Complaints

 Complaints should be seen as another type of feedback, allowing doctors and organisations to review and further develop their practice and to make patientcentred improvements.

- All organisations where doctors work should have appropriate complaints procedures, which should include all doctors who work in that organisation, including locums.
- You should be aware of the complaints procedures for all the organisations in which you work and be kept fully informed of all formal complaints in which you are named.
- You should include your reflection on all formal complaints in which you have been named, or involved, in your supporting information for your appraisal every year, although if the complaint is not yet resolved your reflection may be incomplete.
- Your reflections should consider how the complaint arose, your response and any further actions taken, or to be taken (and the results of those changes once available).
- You do not have to discuss your reflection on every complaint at your appraisal if it
 has been fully discussed elsewhere but you should always declare all complaints
 and provide your personal reflection in the supporting information.
- You may not have been personally named, or involved, in any complaints during the year, in which case you should declare that.
- If a complaint in which you have been named remains unresolved over several years, you do not need to reflect on it in detail at every appraisal if no significant progress has been made, but you should acknowledge that there is an ongoing complaint every year in your annual declaration and include reflection about it at least once in every revalidation cycle.
- All relevant data included in the appraisal and revalidation portfolio should be anonymised to remove any third party identifiable information. For this reason, although your reflection on any complaint should always form part of your appraisal portfolio, specific original supporting information relating to complaints should be shared with your appraiser separately and discussed at appraisal so that your appraiser can comment on it in the appraisal summary.

4. Additional information required for appraisal

4.1 Information about your practice

Personal details including your GMC reference number

The GMC requires you to keep your basic personal details up-to-date and to include them in your appraisal portfolio.

Your medical and professional qualifications should also be included.

Details of the organisations and locations where you have worked as a doctor since your last appraisal, and the roles or posts held

The requirement to provide details of all the places you have worked as a licensed doctor since your last appraisal has been clarified and will be important, particularly to locum doctors who may work in many places. The Academy strongly recommends that you keep a log of all the places that you work and provide the contact details in your appraisal portfolio.

A comprehensive description of the scope and nature of your practice

You need to clarify your scope of practice, because you are required to provide supporting information to demonstrate the quality of your work against the standards in *Good medical practice* (GMC, 2013) for the scope of practice that you actually do, not what you historically qualified for.

It is important to think broadly and include all clinical roles (including voluntary work) whether in the NHS or private practice, working for a charity or in a voluntary capacity, paid or unpaid.

If you hold a licence to practise then you must additionally declare, in your scope of work, all roles in which you provide 'medical services' according to the GMC definition, such as training, academic, leadership, management and medico-political roles, and provide the necessary supporting information for those roles too.

Any work undertaken outside the UK should be identified.

An approximate indication of the proportion of time that you spend on each activity should be provided.

Any separate role which requires a licence to practise for a different organisation, employer, or as an individual, in public or private practice, needs to be included so that the responsible officer (RO) knows where to seek assurance that you are fit to practise. It is best practice to include the contact details, where applicable, for each organisation or employer, to facilitate the transfer of information to the RO, and to be aware of the clinical governance arrangements in place. The RO may request confirmation, from each part of your scope of practice outside the designated body, that there are no outstanding clinical governance issues, concerns or investigations, or request an up-to-date status report on any progress made, before making your revalidation recommendation.

If appropriate, summarise any anticipated changes in the pattern of your professional work over the next year, so that these can be discussed with your appraiser.

A record of your annual whole practice appraisals, including confirmation whether you are in any revalidation non-engagement, licence withdrawal or appeal process

Any concerns identified in the previous appraisal should be documented as having been satisfactorily addressed (or satisfactory progress made), even if you have been revalidated since your last appraisal.

Your personal development plans and their reviews

The GMC requires you to review your personal development plan (PDP) each year to make sure it reflects your needs as defined by the portfolio of supporting information and the appraisal discussion. The PDP is a matter for agreement between you and your appraiser. There is no GMC requirement about the number of PDP goals you should include or if those goals should be clinical or non-clinical.

If you have made additions to your own PDP during the year, these should be confirmed with your appraiser as being relevant and should be carried forward into the next PDP if required. Similarly, any outstanding PDP objectives that are still relevant should be carried over to the newly-agreed PDP.

In some cases, where you have come from abroad, or circumstances have changed significantly during the year, it is possible that you will not have had a previous PDP or made any progress with any of your previous year's PDP goals. You should discuss the reasons for this at your appraisal and your appraiser will sign a 'disagree' statement to indicate this and insert the explanation in the comments section.

4.2 Probity statement

The GMC's requirements

Probity is at the heart of medical professionalism and means being honest and trustworthy and acting with integrity. Not providing honest and accurate information required for your appraisal will raise a question about your probity. A statement of probity is a declaration that you accept the professional obligations placed on you in <u>Good medical practice</u> in relation to probity.

Good medical practice gives guidance on issues of probity as follows:

- a. Research (paragraphs 17 and 67)
- b. Holding adequate and appropriate insurance or indemnity (paragraph 63)
- c. Being honest and trustworthy (paragraphs 65–67)
- d. Providing and publishing information about your services (paragraph 70)
- e. Writing reports and CVs, giving evidence and signing documents (paragraph 71)
- f. Cautions, official inquiries, criminal offences, findings against your registration, and suspensions and restrictions on your practice (paragraphs 72–76)
- g. Financial and commercial dealings and conflicts of interest (paragraphs 77–80)

The Academy's recommendations

You should confirm that:

- You have adequate and appropriate indemnity cover across the full scope of your work.
- You have declared and discussed conflicts of interest and potential bias arising from your scope of work.
- If you have become aware of any issues relating to the conduct, professional performance or health of yourself or of those with whom you work that may pose a risk to patient safety or dignity (for example undermining, bullying or harassment), that you have taken appropriate steps without delay, so that the concerns could be investigated, and patients protected where necessary.
- If you have been requested to present any specific item(s) of supporting information for discussion at appraisal, you have done so.

4.3 Health statement

The GMC's requirements

Your supporting information should include a signed self-declaration confirming the absence of any medical condition that could pose a risk to patients and that you comply with the health and safety obligations for doctors as set out in Good Medical Practice. The scope of your declaration should reflect the nature of your work and any specialty-specific requirements.

The Academy's recommendations

To maintain your 'fitness' to practise, you have a responsibility to look after your physical, mental and emotional wellbeing. It is appropriate to use your appraisal to reflect on how you maintain your health and wellbeing. If you have a health condition that could impact on patient care, it is best practice to reflect on any reasonable adjustments that you have made to ensure that patient safety is not compromised.

References

Academy of Medical Royal Colleges (2018) Academy Revalidation-Mythbusters

Academy of Medical Royal Colleges (2014) <u>Appraisal for Revalidation: A Guide to the Process</u>. London: Academy of Medical Royal Colleges

Academy of Medical Royal Colleges (2018) <u>Interim Guidance on Reflective Practice</u>. London: Academy of Medical Royal Colleges

General Medical Council (2012a) <u>The Good Medical Practice Framework for Appraisal and Revalidation</u>. London: General Medical Council

General Medical Council (2012b) <u>Continuing Professional Development: Guidance for all Doctors</u>. London: General Medical Council

General Medical Council (2013) Good Medical Practice. London: General Medical Council

General Medical Council (2018) <u>Guidance on Supporting Information for Appraisal and Revalidation</u>. London: General Medical Council

NHS Scotland (2014) <u>A Guide to Appraisal for Medical Revalidation</u>. Edinburgh: NHS Scotland

Revalidation Support Team (2014) <u>Medical Appraisal Guide</u>. London: Revalidation Support Team

Wales Deanery (2012), All Wales Medical Appraisal Policy. Cardiff: Wales Deanery